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THE ROYAL EXCHANGE AND OTHER
CITY IMPROVEMENTS *

age-worn small folio of between two and three hundred

pages, bound in dark leather, and labelled in modern
handwriting : ¢ Minute-Book of Commissioners for carrying
out City Improvements, 1752-1761.> In view of the dates,
it is obvious that the volume contains the record only of
the first stage of those portentous ‘improvements’ that were
to find their consummation in the building of the North
Bridge and the formation of the New Town.* There are
incidental and vague references to the former of these pro-
jects, while the latter is foreshadowed in a widespread desire
for an extension of the royalty to the north. But the subject-
matter is largely concerned with what was the chief public
work in Edinburgh for the period 1752-61, i.e. the building
of the Royal Exchange.

The story of this ‘city improvement’ has been told in
admirable outline by Robert Miller, Lord Dean of Guild,
in The Municipal Buildings of Edinburgh (1895), but in
the ° Minute-Book of Commissioners for carrying out City
Improvements, 1752-1761° there is presented the official

IN one of the strong-rooms of the City Chambers there is an

1 The subject-matter of this article is derived almost entirely from the
‘ Minute-Book of Commissioners for carrying out City Improvements, 1752-
1761 The writer iz aware that certain portions of the narrative conflict to
some extent with the testimony of other authorities. Nevertheless, he thinks
it important that the point of view of the Commissioners ghould be known,
and his aim has been to present it acourately and impartially.

% Tg should be explained that this Commission was only one of several set
up in Edinburgh under Acts of Parliament, since the Corporation itself did not
promote ‘ improvements * of that sort.

A




2 THE ROYAL EXCHANGE AND OTHER

account together with a mass of detail, especially on the
financial side. Much of this material is more confusing than
enlightening, and an attempt to galvanise it into life would
serve no useful purpose. But there are a few episodes con-
nected with the erection of the Royal Exchange worthy of
reproduction because of the light they shed on our municipal
history when great public works were being planned under
the supremely able and inspiring leadership of Lord Provost
Drummond, the cumulative result of which was the creation
of modern Edinburgh.

I

The history of the Royal Exchange is that of a structure
erected to fulfil a definite object and utilised for another.
As originally planned, the Italianated building on the north
side of High Street, opposite the Mercat Cross, was to pro-
vide the merchants of Edinburgh with an Exchange, but so
tenaciously did they cling to the time-honoured practice of
bargaining at the Cross that the term ° Exchange’ became
a misnomer. Early in the nineteenth century, however, the
building which the merchants despised was adapted by the
Corporation of Edinburgh for their requirements, and ever
since has been the municipal headquarters. In recent years
there have been extensive structural alterations, including
the erection of two wings which, if they witness to the
remarkable expansiveness of local administration, have re-
duced the building formerly known as the Royal Exchange
from a whole to a part.

When the ‘age of secular interests’ supplanted the
theocratic views of life that had survived in Scotland from
the times of the Reformation and the Covenant, thus bringing
about a complete breach with the past, it was in Edinburgh,
as Masson points out, that © the various elements of Scottish
life at this time were seen in closest contact and their most
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intimate union or antagonism.” In speculative thought, in
literature and art, in the growth of almost every branch of
practical knowledge, Edinburgh was the citadel, the place
where the intellectual prowess of the Scottish race was seen
at its best. In this city the things of the mind were assessed
at their true value and led to an outpouring of the national
gpirit which has never ceased fto attract the critical and
disciplined intelligence.

After the suppression of the Jacobite rising of 1745-46
Edinburgh entered upon a period of industrial and com-
mercial prosperity. The causes cannot here be discussed,
but it is a well-established fact that the stagnation in trade
which had been particularly marked after the Union of 1707
was succeeded by a rapid and widespread revival of commerce
and manufactures. Merchants who had formerly confined
themselves to relatively small transactions now embarked
upon bold enterprises. And with the larger outlook and the
spirit of adventure came the consciousness that the trading
system which had sufficed for the day of small things was
no longer adequate. New and more up-to-date means must
be employed if the full harvest was to be reaped. Thus
Edinburgh merchants were driven to the conclusion that the
time had come when they must rid themselves of the bondage
of ideas which were a legacy from a long-distant past and
adopt others more in conformity with the needs of their
own day. Hence the series of public works, the carrying
out of which was so commendable a feature of the Edinburgh
of the latter half of the eighteenth century.

To the Convention of Royal Burghs belongs the distinction
of having initiated the scheme for city improvements. In
1752 that body took two practical steps: it published a
pamphlet entitled ‘ Proposals for carrying on certain Public
Works in the City of Edinburgh,” and it appointed a com-
mittee to consider a remit ‘touching the purchasing an area
for a public forum or exchange at the Cross of Edinburgh,’
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and ‘erecting a building on the ruins on the south side of

the Parliament Close, containing a Borough Room, providing
proper repositories for the public records of the nation,
and . . . other useful works’ The committee reported
favourably, and the Convention signified their °hearty
approval of the said schemes,” and requested its members
‘ to lay the same before the town-councils of their respective
boroughs * with a view ‘to eliciting subscriptions in aid.’
Further, the members were ‘to acquaint the Lord Provost
of Edinburgh with the resolutions which their town-councils
came to.’ Meanwhile a paper was to be drawn up and
circulated throughout the kingdom containing © a full account
of these schemes.’

This publication was the °Proposals’ which, after en-
visaging the prevailing state of affairs, sketches in detail the
various city improvements that were being projected. We
read : ‘Since the year 1746, when the rebellion was sup-
pressed, a most surprising resolution has happened in the
affairs of this country. The whole system of our trade,
husbandry, and manufactures, which had hitherto proceeded
only by slow degrees, now began to advance with such a
rapid and general progression, as almost exceeds the hounds
of probability.’ Edinburgh, as the capital, must be foremost
in partaking of the benefits of this boom in trade, and in
order that this might be done it was necessary that the city
should be provided with a sunitable Exchange.

The ° Proposals’ makes clear the formidable nature of
the public works contemplated. The extension of the royalty,
the erection of an Exchange, the opening up of thoroughfares
on the north and south and connecting them with bridges,
the building of the New Town and of houses beyond the
Flodden Wall, the transformation of the North Loch into an
ornamental canal—such were the schemes outlined. Nor were
they visionary enterprises, for with the exception of the
ornamental canal, all were given effect to.

CITY IMPROVEMENTS b

Under the ‘ Proposals * the ‘ conduct and direction of the
whole scheme * was ‘ lodged in thirty-three directors,” usually
designated Commissioners. Three of these were chosen by
the Senators of the College of Justice, two by the Barons
of the Exchequer, three by the Faculty of Advocates, three
by the Clerks to the Signet, eight by the Magistrates and
Town Couneil (the Lord Provost, Dean of Guild, Treasurer
and Deacon-Convener of the Trades were directors ex officio),
and ten by those who subscribed to the extent of £5. It was
also decided that the expense of the proposed works should be
defrayed by a national contribution. Formerly, the city had
to be responsible for the cost of erecting all public buildings
within its bounds, but it was now to be relieved even of the
expense of buildings that were purely local. Considering
that the Royal Exchange, the first of the public works to
be undertaken, was intended for the sole benefit of the
Edinburgh merchants, it is astonishing to learn that sub-
scriptions came pouring in not only from all parts of Scotland
but from the Scottish population resident in England, notably
in London where the intensive efforts of Lord Provost
Drummond met with marked success.

II

As ‘powerful motives’ prompted the erection of the
Exchange, so chance, says the writer of the ‘ Proposals,” has
¢ furnished us with the finest opportunity of carrying it into
execution. Several of the principal parts of the town are
now lying in ruins. Many of the old houses are decaying ;
several have already been pulled down, and probably more
will soon be in the same condition. If this opportunity be
neglected, all hopes of remedying the inconveniences of this
city are at an end’ (p. 24). Strong reasons impelled towards
the selection of a site on the north side of High Street, facing
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the Cross. In the first place, this portion of the Old Town
contained an extensive area of ruinous buildings which would
require to be cleared before long, and in the next, the
principal part of the high street, that on which there is
necessarily always the greatest repair, is so encumbered and
narrowed with piles of stones, that it is very incommodious
to the inhabitants.” Furthermore, it was high time that the
unsavoury associations of the place were obliterated. Mary
King’s Close, which bounded the site on the west, had not
been inhabited for a whole century, and was a disreputable
quarter, as Sir Daniel Wilson reminds us in his Memorials
of Edinburgh. Here the last dregs of the plague secreted
themselves, and the place was believed by the populace to
be haunted. In short, the evil traditions of Mary King's
Close were such that it is said to have been ° deserted latterly
by all but the powers of darkness.’” In this squalid quarter,
then, was reared the earliest of the °city improvements —
the Royal Exchange.

The first record in the Minute-Book of the Commissioners
is dated 20th November 1752, when a meeting of the repre-
sentatives of the various public bodies, ‘ for carrying on the
intended improvements in the city,’ was held. At the head
of the Town Council contingent was the Lord Provost
(William Alexander), ably supported by George Drummond,
who had occupied the chief civie office for the third time
in the years 1750-51. Drummond may well be regarded as
the leading spirit of the whole movement. He it was who
wrote the letter (printed in the Scots Magazine, Ixiv. p. 467)
commending the ¢ Proposals,’ and was indefatigable in raising
subscriptions. The Lords of Session were represented by
Lord Drummore, a prime mover in most Edinburgh schemes
of his day ; the Faculty of Advocates by ‘ Mr, Alex. Boswel,’
the father of Dr. Johnson’s biographer and better known as
Lord Auchinleck, and ¢ Mr. Gilbert Elliot,” afterwards the
third baronet of Minto, and eminent as a statesman, philo-
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sopher and poet. The representatives of the Clerks to the
Signet, again, were John McKenzie and Hew Crawfurd.
The latter’s town house was in Cant’s Close and his country
one at Redbraes, near Bonnington, the mansion of which
(now demolished) he built. To these directors, chosen by
the various public bodies, were added other ten selected by
ninety-one subscribers of £5 and upwards. The choice of
the votes fell upon the Duke of Hamilton, the Duke of
Argyll, the Marquess of Tweeddale, the Earls of Morton and
Hopetoun, the Lord Justice-Clerk (Lord Milton), Sir Alexander
Dick of Prestonfield, Bart., James Dewar of Vogrie, and
John Forrest, merchant in Edinburgh.

On 4th December 1752 the Commissioners appointed a
committee to comsider the state of the subscriptions, the
several buildings to be erected, and the communications to
be made with what shall to them appear necessary towards
the erection thereof.’ i

At an early stage, when the financial position was by
no means stable, the Commissioners bought up property in
order to clear the site for the Exchange. Not only so, but
they entered into negotiations, somewhat prematurely, with
regard to another of their proposed schemes, viz., the making
of new approaches to the city from the north and south.
In February 1753 we hear of a committee, of which Lords
Kames and Minto were members, reporting on what purchases
were necessary ‘ near the Cross ’ and immediately to the south
thereof, so that a passage might be constructed through
‘ Elphingston’s land ’ for wheeled carriages. The committee
advised the removal of the west gable of Arthur Reid’s
‘land,” and intimated the willingness of the Royal Bank
to yield a part of their property for widening the passage
provided they received in return two old houses adjoining.
As the site of the premises which the Royal Bank then
occupied are now covered by the City Police Chambers, it
is obvious that the ® Elphingston’s land’ here referred to is
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not to be identified with Elphinstone House ! at the foot of
South Gray’s Close, a structure that only disappeared a few
years ago. But the interesting point is that the original
idea was to make the communication to the south in the
vicinity of the Cross and considerably to the west of the
thoroughfare which now goes by the name of South Bridge.

111

We have seen that the public works contemplated were
to be paid for by voluntary subscription. From the outset
that great citizen, George Drummond, took charge of this
part of the scheme and was unwearying in raising money in
various quarters. So early as 1752 we find the promoters
recommending Drummond, ‘ who had that matter so much
at heart,” to use ° his utmost endeavours to procure further
subscriptions in England or other places where there is any
prospect of success” That Drummond should attempt to
collect money in England for public works to be set up in
Edinburgh may well be surprising, but it is to be presumed
that the appeal would be made to Scotsmen resident south
of the Border, and more especially to those who had an
intimate connection with the Scottish capital. On 18th
December 1752 it was reported that the subscriptions,
including those of the Convention of Royal Burghs and the
Clerks to the Signet, amounted to nearly £6000, a big sum
in those days. But an enormous effort was still necessary.
In 1753 the promoters resolved ‘ to indemnify Mr. Drummond
of the expense he may be put to in the publick service,’ as
well they might, for nothing could curb his enthusiasm.
In 1753 he was again in London, where he was assisted in
his crusade by James Ker, the representative of Edinburgh

1 This mansion has usually been regarded as the town house of the Lords

Elphinstone, but the titles give no support to such a view. As matter of fact,
the property at one time belonged to a lawyer named Elphinstone.
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in Parliament. An intensive effort was also in progress in
Scotland.  Subscription forms were dispatched to every
county, ‘ and in order to dispose them to contribute liberally,
it was absolutely necessary that Mr. Drummond’s applications
should be assisted by some of the Directors of higher rank’
recommending the matter ‘ to some Gentlemen of distinction
and publick spirit in each County, and that all endeavours
should be used with the heritors of this and the counties of
KEast and West Lothian to prevail with them to show a good
example to the other counties.’

Up to this point the Directors were not too sanguine,
the subscriptions being ‘much less than what was hoped
for.” Still there was no cause for serious misgiving, in view
of the fact that °great numbers of persons of the first
consideration > had, even before receiving subscription forms,
‘ expressed their willingness to sign.’ Moreover, locally the
money had been coming in fairly satisfactorily, and it was
hoped that the generosity of the Incorporations, particularly
Mary’s Chapel (twenty of whose members had subscribed
ten guineas each), would influence ‘ people of higher rank’
to increase their subscriptions. In addition, Drummond
reported ‘a great disposition among all our Countrymen
(in London) to Contribute,” while liberal subscriptions were
confidently expected ° from our Countrymen out of Britain,
in the different places where they have settled.” So the
Directors wormed their way to the conclusion that ‘ the small
sum that yet's signed need be no discouragement to the
board to give a beginning to the work.’

The first step was the drafting of a bill to Parliament
for facilitating the purchase of property at the Cross in
order to obtain a site for the Exchange, as well as to secure
ground for ‘ opening an easy communication with the high
street from the north, south and west.” The committee
entrusted with this work were the Lord Provost, Lords
Kames and Drummore, Alexander Boswell, and Sir Alexander

B
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Dick of Prestonfield. But the person directly responsible
was Robert Craigie, who was to become Lord President, and,
according to Lord Woodhouselee, a lawyer of great acumen,
knowledge and industry. The bill was ready in January
1753. A clause was afterwards added authorising the Town
Council ‘to make such purchases as should be deemed
necessary for the improvement of the harbour of Leith.’
Ultimately, however, this clause was omitted on the ground
that it formed no part of the original proposals, and was
therefore not mentioned in the appeal for subscriptions.
But the merchants of Edinburgh opposed this course, and
eventually it was left to the Town Council to embody the
matter of Leith harbour in a separate bill.

Whether there was any opposition to the bill the Minute-
Book does not disclose. There is mention, however, of
Thomas Rigg of Morton, Archibald Murray of Murrayfield,
Andrew Chalmer, writer in BEdinburgh, William Robertson
of Ladykirk (the owner of the mansion of Hillhousefield at
Bonnington), John Kennedy, surgeon in Edinburgh, and
James Home of Gammelshiel, being furnished with copies
of the bill, which seems to indicate that they had their doubts.

The bill was passed in 1753, and is described as an Act
¢ for erecting several publick buildings in the City of Edin-
burgh,’” and to empower the trustees mentioned therein to
purchase lands for that purpose, and also for widening and
enlarging the streets of the said city and certain avenues
leading thereunto. The thirty-three trustees were constituted
Commissioners. They were to meet in the Laigh council-house
(the New Tolbooth), and to hold at least four stated meetings
annually,

The Commissioners were empowered to purchase af a
valuation the ground and houses necessary for the erection
of the Exchange. The area is described as bounded by the
Writers' Court on the west, the stone land (Fairholm’s)
immediately below Allan’s Close on the east, the High Street
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on the south, and the North Loch on the north, being one
hundred and fifty feet from east to west, and ‘comprehending
the whole houses and ground northward from the said south-
boundary to the North Loch.” * The area also included Mary
King’s Close, Stewart’s Close, and Allan’s Close.

v

The earlier portion of the Minute-Book of the Com-
missioners is mainly taken up with the negotiations for the
purchase of the properties. The Commissioners devolved the
power of contracting on the Town Council, the rights to all
the areas to be purchased being © taken to the community ’
until they were disposed of, and thus replaced the sums
advanced for carrying on the works. An act of Town Council,
dated 29th August 1753, authorised purchases to the extent
of £11,749, 6s. 8d. at least, which sum was charged to the
undertakers, who bound themselves fo carry out the contract
for £19,707, 16s. 4d. But the Magistrates engaged to advance
to them £18,000, for which interest at four per cent should
be paid.?

The labours of the Commissioners, as regards the building
of the Exchange, were lightened by the fact that Bailie
Gavin Hamilton and James Armour, the chief proprietors,
sold their properties at the price which they paid for them,
and were thanked for their ° generous publick spiritedness.’
In addition, Gavin Hamilton had the refusal of any shop
or warehouse in the Exchange that would suit ‘his con-
veniency.” The other proprietors were less tractable, though
for this circumstance the Commissioners seem to have been
prepared. °It is not to be expected that among so many
proprietors as the area of the Exchange belongs to, some

1 Contract of Agreement for building an Exchange in the City of Edinburgh

between the Magistrates and Town Council and the Tradesmen, 1754, p. 3.
* Ibid., pp. 6-7.
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wrong-headed Covetous men won’t be found who will insist
on an extravagant price.’” Moreover, there might be other
causes operating against the Commissioners. ‘ Some of these
areas probably belong to minors, who, it may be, have no
body who can act in their affairs. Some of the proprietors
may be out of the kingdom and can’t be treated with, and
some of the subjects, it may be, are in the hands of Creditors.’

The Town Council, however, eased the situation by giving
the town’s security to the owners of property in the area to
be purchased, as well as by arranging matters so that clear
rights would be given to prospective buyers of the tenements
to be erected there. The Council also applied to the Bank
of Scotland and the Royal Bank for a loan of £5000 from
each free of interest till the Commissioners could dispose of
the houses that were to be built. Both applications were
granted in return for the town’s security. Neil Munro,
commenting on this transaction in his History of the Royal
Bank (p. 114), says: ‘ The amount of this credit can hardly
be regarded as excessive considering that what was involved
was the first step in the creation of the * Modern Athens,”
though Lord Provost Alexander and his council could not
possibly have visualised the ultimate results of their schemes
for improvement and decoration.’

On 21st August 1753 Drummond gave in a long report
of a committee appointed to consider estimates submitted by
John and Robert Adam, architects, and by the ° Gentlemen
belonging to Mary’s Chappel,” when it was unanimously
resolved that Messrs. Adam’s ‘shall be the plan according
to which the Exchange is to be built.” But while the plan
of the brothers Adam was adopted, their estimate for erecting
the Exchange, amounting to £25,484, was rejected in favour
of that of the ° Gentlemen of Mary’s Chappel * which, besides
being lower, was made additionally attractive by an agree-
ment to pay four per cent for the money advanced to them
while the Exchange was being built. Accordingly it was
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decided that the ‘ Gentlemen of Mary’s Chappel’ should be
‘ the undertakers for executing the Exchange agreeable to
the aforesaid plan.” They were to work under the instructions
of the Town Council, who were to be responsible to the public
for this ‘and all the subsequent works to be carried on for
the improvement of the city.’ But as it was not intended
that the town should run any risk, or that its ordinary
revenue should be burdened thereby, the Commissioners
agreed to make over all the money subscribed for the
execution of the various public works.

The sum for which the undertakers agreed to build the
Exchange, according to a revised plan, and on the assumption
that the central portion was made the Custom House, was
£15,128, 16s. 2d. But in the event of the portion of the
Exchange reserved for the Custom House being converted
into dwellings, the whole building was to be finished for
£14,830, 5s. 2d., which, added to the estimated value of the
area (£10,000), made the total charge £24,830, 5s. 2d.

v

The foundation-stone of the Royal Exchange was laid on
13th September 1753. But for some unexplained reason no
progress was made for nine months. Not till June 1754 was
it announced that ‘the building of the Edinburgh Exchange
is now to go on.” The confract was drawn up between the
Town Council and the Deacons of the Crafts (to whom the
Commissioners had entrusted the superintendence of the work)
and the undertakers—Patrick Jamieson, mason, Alexander
Peter, George Stevenson, John Moubray, wrights, and John
Fergus, architect—‘all Burgesses, Freemen, Members of
Mary’s Chapel of Edinburgh.’

The Exchange was to consist of ‘a body of a house
1113 ft. in length from out to out, and 51} ft. broad over
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walls in the centre line . . . and two wings or jambs projecting
forwards to the south from the ends of said body, 131 ft.
each, for forming the east and west sides of the Square, with
a range of buildings on the south along the sides of the
street, 19 ft. high from the level of the court . . . [with] an entry
in the centre of 10 ft. wide . . . all to form a square court
of 83 ft. from south to north, exclusive of a piazza of 13 ft.
deep . . . and 89 ft. wide from east to west.” This piazza was
intended to accommodate the merchants, and to serve as their
meeting-place instead of the Cross.

When the building was completed it was to contain
¢ Firstly, ten shops on a line with the street, with rooms
over them ; secondly, four shops behind the range to the
street, with rooms over them ; thirdly, seven shops within
the Square, with rooms over them ; fourthly, ten laigh shops
to the street; fifthly, eleven laigh shops within the court ;
sixthly, two houses on the east wing; seventhly, one house
on the west wing; eighthly, other three houses, whereof two
on the south end of the wings to the street, and one on the
north of the east wing; ninthly, two printing-houses ;
tenthly, four dwelling-houses under the level of the court;
eleventhly, three coffee-houses; and twelfthly and lastly,
a custom-house.’ !

The properties were to be sold as they were completed,
and titles given to them by the Magistrates, who were to
receive the purchase money under conditions which guaranteed
them against loss. Forty per cent of all receipts were to be
handed over to the Magistrates to reimburse them for the
purchase of the area. The remaining sixty per cent was to
be handed over on account of the advances, and the under-
takers were to make good any balance © within twelve months
after the foresaid term of Whitsunday in the year 1762,
at which time the whole buildings are to be compleatly
finished, and that whether all the houses or shops are sold

1 Contract of Agreement, pp. 11-12.
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or remain unsold, with a fifth part more of penalty in case
of failzie.’

The Custom House, which formed the central portion of
the Exchange and was valued at nearly £6000, was retained
by the Magistrates in their own hands, the twenty rooms
used for this purpose being held from them by the Government
at a rent of £360 a year. All the rest of the property was
controlled by the undertakers, except an office for the
Chamberlain, described in 1766 as a shop in the front of
the New Exchange.” The square of the Exchange was never
finally completed, an old building in Writers’ Court, used by
the Writers to His Majesty’s Signet, being incorporated with
the western side.!

During most of the time occupied in erecting the Exchange
the financial problem was acutely felt. In July 1754 the
Commissioners called upon the subseribers to pay ¢ forthwith *
at least ‘one-half of the sums promised.’ More stringent
measures were adopted in November, when it was found
necessary not only to call in the whole of the sums subscribed
but to begin a fresh campaign for more money. The need
‘to collect further subscriptions both in England and this
country’ was urgent, so that as ‘little encroachment as possible
may be made upon the credits in the banks.’ In this work
Drummond, who had again been called to the Provostship,
took a leading part, being asked © to do his utmost to procure
further subseriptions both in this country and in England,
or where else there are hopes of success.’

VI
On 31st July 1755 a petition came before the Com-
missioners which, if not intrinsically important, at least shed
a curious light on the liability of fire in old Edinburgh when
buildings of all sorts were piled close and high. The petitioners
* Robert Miller, Municipal Buildings of Edinburgh, p. 118.
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were the Edinburgh Friendly Insurance against Losses by
Fire, who pointed out that when the bill for erecting certain
public buildings in the city was being drafted, they requested
the insertion of a clause for securing the interests of their
organisation, which was done. Since then, however, the
directors were apprehensive that they had not fores_een
¢ gvery danger or question’ to which their society ‘might
become liable in the course of the execution of the Act.’

Adverting to the prevailing conditions, the directors
stressed the fact that no place in Edinburgh was ‘more
exposed to accidents of fire* than where ‘ the new Exchange
is to be built, arising not only from the height and Closeness
of the Buildings, but also from their being all built of Timber
and lying in a very irregular manner.” Consequently, * there
was no place in the whole city where Insurances were made
to so high an extent as there. Moreover, most (?t' the
proprietors in this area helped to form the Edinburgh Friendly
Insurance and were insured to a ‘very high value’ Two
great timber lands fronting High Street at the head of
Pearson’s Close and Allan’s Close, together with some houses
at the back, were insured with the Society for £2000. Owing
to changed circumstances these tenements were now little
better than ruins, and the directors felt that till new buildings
were erected in their place and new insurance policies made
out, the Society ought not to be answerable for the con-
sequences of an outbreak of fire. While the hazard_(:f_ fire
was greatly increased by the actual condition of the buildings,
they were a ¢ mere area’ according to the Act. Then follows
an illuminating passage :

‘ The Great Security from fire in the City of Edinburgh arises from
this Circumstance, that the inhabitants in every Tenement are so
numerous that some of them must be continually astir or awake, and
so a fire can come no great Length before it is discovered. The alarm
is presently taken and given, and thereby very often the fatal Conse-
quences prevented, and therefore the throwing two great Timber lands
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almost entirely waste in reality and fact encreases the danger from
fire tho” at first view it might be thought to Lessen it. And this
must hold the more especially when the few Inhabitants left are of
the lower Class—Keepers of Dramshops and Cellars, where from the
nature of their Business and the nature of their Company, Riot and
Carelessness most prevail. Besides that in these Cellars and Shops
the vents are for most part such as are commonly called Stolen vents.
This is in a particular manner the Case with the Tenements now
under consideration. . . . It was obvious . . . that if a fire was to
happen in either of these two Tenements it could not be expected
that People . . . would take any care to preserve or Save these
Tenements. . . . They would be considered as Subjects that coming
down at any rate, there was no great matter how they came down.
And with respect to the Eastmost of these two Tenements, it could
not be expected That if it was on fire any body would venture near
it because it is covered with a Leaden roof which could not fail to
intimidate the hardiest workman. . . .

If the Commissioners had . . . ordered the undertakers for build-
ing the new Exchange to have proceeded in the precise terms of their
contract they would now have been taking down these Timber buildings
to the street, in order to have built the new front Shops. . . . In that
case there would have been no need for this Application. But as the
Commissioners have been pleased to allow the undertakers to build
the Back parts of the Exchange before the fore parts . . . the
Memorialists judged it incumbent on them to make this application.

Briefly, the prayer of the petition was that the two timber
tenements be demolished, or that the Commissioners declare
that no claim could be made against the Edinburgh Friendly
Insurance for the insured portions in the event of their being
destroyed by fire. The Commissioners agreed to consider the
petition, but the Minute-Book does not record their decision.

VII

Meanwhile matters were not going well as regards the
financial aspect. The salient factor of the situation was that
the Town Council failed to implement its agreement for the

c
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advance of £18,000 to the undertakers, who were compelled
to borrow at five per cent. Unfortunately there was no fund
from which the town’s indebtedness to the undertakers could
be paid. To make matters worse, the credit in the banks
was almost exhausted, while the recovery of arrears of sub-
scriptions was uncertain. In this plight, the undertakers
were allowed to apply the money accruing from the sale
of certain houses and shops, amounting to £4675, towards
completing the erection of the Exchange.

How parlous was their state was brought home to the
Commissioners at a meeting on 14th August 1759, when a
memorial was presented by them, recalling the fact that
owing to the erection of the Exchange being ‘a very bulky
and expensive undertaking,’ the Magistrates had bound them-
selves to advance the memorialists a sum not exceeding
£18,000 (payable in instalments at sundry periods) with which
to carry on the work. By contract the sum of £12,950 fell
due whenever the roof was put on the whole building. The
undertakers were also entitled to the sum of £1010 at the
end of each half-year thereafter till the total sum of £18,000
was paid up. Relying on these commitments, the undertakers
had prosecuted the work © with the greatest Exactness and
Expedition® and had ° even made greater progress than was
Expected,” so much so that they were confident of completing
the Exchange buildings ‘ long before Whitsunday 1762," the
date mentioned in the contract.

The roof was upon the whole building by March 1758,
so that the undertakers were then entitled by contract to
£12,950. And if to this be added the sum of £1010 due at
Martinmas 1758 and a similar amount payable at Whitsunday
1759, the total sum now due by the Magistrates amounted
to no less than £14,970. The undertakers, on the other hand,
had expended £17,335 to date, but all they had received from
the town was £4100. Happily this paltry sum was eked out
by the price of certain houses and shops, amounting to
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£6130, 3s. 3d., which the Commissioners had allowed them
to retain. The total therefore received by the undertakers
was £10,230, 3s. 3d. to answer an expenditure of £17,335.

Notwithstanding this wholly unsatisfactory state of affairs,
the undertakers continued to carry on operations ° with a
very great Number of hands.’” But they were ° due several
Bills which they cannot retire unless they get some further
supply of money.” Accordingly they applied to the Com-
missioners to sanction their retention of a further sum of
£3080 obtained by them from the sale of more shops and
houses. This was agreed to.

But there was the further problem of how to secure the
sums due by the undertakers to the Commissioners. A com-
mittee appointed by the latter, after conferring with the
Town Council, recommended, on 16th November 1761, that
the Magistrates should authorise their agent to  Registrate
the Contract and to Raise and Execute an Inhibition upon
it against the Undertakers.” Another proposal was that the
Town Council should notify °the severall Purchasers of
Buildings in the New Exchange,” who had not yet paid the
full price or any part of it, to make no further payments
to the undertakers, since the latter had no right to the
houses and shops they had sold until their part of the
contract was implemented.

The case for the undertakers was presented by Bailie
James Stuart. The contractors, it was explained, found
‘a great slowness in the Inhabitants and others to purchase
Sundry of the Subjects as now rebuilt’ at the values fixed
by the contract. This militated against the undertakers,
who suggested that the unsold property should be disposed
of by public roup at a tenth part below the contracted
values, the money thus obtained being applied to *sinking
their debt pro tanto to the Good Town or Commissioners for
Publick Works.” This course was ultimately approved by
the Commissioners, though it was stipulated that the pay-
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ments accruing therefrom were not to ° prejudge the town
or Commissioners of whatever balance may be justly due to
the undertakers in terms of the contract.’

The last recorded entry in the Minute-Book of the
Commissioners is dated 23rd November 1761, when there
was submitted a statement of the debts due by the under-
takers to the public, as at the previous Martinmas. The
cash advanced them by the Town Council between 27th
July 1754 and 24th August 1756 amounted (as has already
been stated) to £4100. To this fell to be added a remittance of
£250 from Provost Drummond, likewise the price of the areas,
as per contract—£11,749, 6s. 8d. The undertakers formally
acknowledged that they had no claims for °compensation
or deduction therefrom except the several allowances insisted
on or demanded by us in terms of four accounts lodged by
us with the Trustees, which we hope they will, in respect
of our great sufferings by this undertaking, agree to allow
in whole or in part towards the extinction pro tanto of the
debt due by us to the publick.’

The Commissioners remitted the matter to a committee,
but in the meantime the undertakers were to proceed with
the disposal of the unsold property, ‘so as the prices may
be recovered and applied for lessening the debt contracted
for advancing the scheme of the Royal Exchange, [for] which
the Undertakers by their own representations appear now
to have been so ill Qualified.” The Minute was signed by
Provost Drummond.

VIII

While our narrative, so far as the Minute-Book of the
Commissioners is concerned, thus terminates abruptly, it is
possible to round off the story of the building of the Royal
Exchange from other authentic sources. The undertakers
shouldered a heavier burden than they were able to carry.
Like the promoters of the scheme, they were infatuated with
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the idea that once the Exchange was in existence the
merchants of Edinburgh would, as a matter of course, repair
to it, as a place incomparably superior to the old for the
transaction of their business. But the belief was ill-founded,
So far from being attracted to the new Exchange, they seem
to have had a rooted objection to doing business there, pre-
ferring their old haunts in the vicinity of the Cross. Anyhow
the merchants never resorted to any extent to the piazza on
the north side of the courtyard, and, as a result, many of
the shops and houses at the Exchange which had been valued
on the assumption that their nearness to the headquarters
of the merchants would enhance their attractiveness, were
disposed of for sums considerably lower than the valuation.
In the long run, however, the Royal Exchange proved an
important commercial asset for the town. When, in 1764,
the undertakers intimated to the Town Council that they
were unable to pay the balance of £2006 due by them,
it was resolved ‘to expose the properties still unsold by
Public Roup at one-sixth less than the present price, and,
if not sold, to be exposed in another month at one-sixth less
than the reduced price.” This measure seems to have been
effective, for by January 1765 all the remaining properties
had been sold. There was now a surplus which it was
proposed to devote to the North Bridge scheme. It was
reported that the purchase money of the buildings would
not only be sufficient to clear the money obtained from the
Bank of Scotland and the Royal Bank as well as other
commitments, but would leave a free fund of £211, 14s. 51d.
There was also the acknowledged balance due to the public
by the undertakers, while the unrecovered subscriptions
reached the sum of £1175, 16s. 6d. These sums and funds
the Commissioners made over to the Town Council.? Tt is,
however, impossible to state precisely how far the North
Bridge scheme benefited, for it would appear that many of
* Robert Miller, Municipal Buildings of Edinburgh, pp. 118-19.
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the subscriptions towards the building of the Exchange which
remained outstanding were never recovered.

Ultimately the sum of £2006 claimed from the undertakers
was spread over three years on security being given by them,
and on 6th August 1766 a full discharge of all moneys and
balances due was granted to them in return for bonds from
four of their number, amounting to £501, 10s. each. With
this transaction ends the story of the erection of the Royal
Exchange.!

IX

From the first, the building of the Exchange was bound
up with the advancement of another public work, even more
ambitious—the making of an ° Avenue to the City from the
North,” as the promoters quaintly described their proposed
undertaking. When a plan of the Exchange prepared by
the Town Council was laid before the Commissioners on
18th December 1752, the writer of the Minutes made the
following entry : ‘It will give general satisfaction and have
a very good effect in promoting the subscription if the
Directors are pleased to enter upon the making of the
Avenue to the City from the North as soon as the season
will admit of it.’ It was therefore the clearly declared
intention of the Commissioners that the two schemes should
proceed simultaneously.

The new thoroughfare, it was proposed,  should be through
the land adjoining to Mill’s [Mylne] square on the East, and
should be carried from thence in a line running North East
into the enclosure which lies North from the Orphan Hospital,
and from thence in a Straight line to Leith, having the Steeple
of the New Church of Edinburgh to the South West and the
Steeple of the Church of South Leith on the North East
bearing on one Another in this direction—almost in a
straight line.’

1 Robert Miller, Municipal Buildings of Edinburgh, p. 119,
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This description is by no means easy to follow. In
particular, what exactly is meant by °the Steeple of the
New Church of Edinburgh to the South-West’? It can
hardly be the Tron Kirk that is referred to. At first sight
that may seem a natural supposition, but a moment’s
reflection will make clear the erroneousness of such a view,
for in the middle of the eighteenth century the Tron Kirk
could not justly be deseribed as ‘ New,’ considering that by
that time it had existed for upwards of a century.! Be that
as it may, the description affords convincing proof that at
this stage there was no thought of a New Town on the
farther side of the valley containing the North Loch. The
sole object of the proposed thoroughfare was to render easier
access to the Port of Leith.

But it was not till December 1754 that the North Bridge
project assumed definite shape. This arose from a memorial
presented to the Town Council by the Governor and Directors
of the Musical Society of Edinburgh and the Managers of the
Ladies Assembly requesting ground ‘to the west of the
passage intended from the High Street to the north’ on
which to erect © an Assembly and Concert room.” This matter
has already been dealt with in the Book of the Old Edinburgh
Club  (vol. xix, pp. 56, 223-4), but further reference seems
justified on the ground that the incident is told from the point
of view of the Commissioners for City Improvements and sup-
plements in some interesting particulars the previous accounts.

The memorial, which is signed by Sir Hew Dalrymple,
Governor, and other office-bearers of the Musical Society,
sets forth : -

‘It had been long and justly complained that the two rooms in

this City wherein the Musical Society and the Ladies Assembly meet
are too narrow and confin'd, and by no means proper for accommo-

1 It has been suggested as a probable explanation that as the Tron Chureh
was on various occasions used as a centre for directions, the word * New * may
be a mistake for * Tron.’




24 THE ROYAL EXCHANGE AND OTHER

dating the great number of persons of distinction that generally resort
to these entertainments. The Memorialists therefore had been at a
good dale [sic] of pains to find out a convenient Area for building
two rooms for these purposes. That the Good Town was proprietor
of several old houses and a large Area to the west of Hart’s Close, a
part of which the Memorialists apprehended would be extremely
proper for their purpose. And by a plan of these buildings it appeared
they would no ways hurt the street intended from the head of Hart’s
Close to the North, nor the Market which the Magistrates and Couneil
have wisely destined to be kept upon the Area betwixt that Close
and Halkerston’s Wynd. The present undertaking being so intimately
eonnected with the real interest and prosperity of the Good Town, as
it will not only be highly ornamental but also increase a perpetual
fund of Charity, and induce people of distinction to resort to the City,
the Memorialists apprehended they needed use few Arguments to a
town Council so noted as the present for that publick spirit to comply
with their request in granting them the foresaid piece of ground for
the buildings above-mentioned. And that they will take such measures
as to the Hon™e Council shall seem most expedient for opening a
passage at the head of Hart’s Close, of which they are also proprietors,
as the foresaid buildings are intended to be begun as soon as the
season of the year will permit.”

On 23rd December 1754 Lord Kames reported on behalf
of a committee which had been appointed to consider the
petition. After inspecting the ground, the committee were
of opinion that it was ° the only convenient place where the
passage can be made from the high street to the fields on
the north.” Lord Kames explained how it was proposed to
form ‘the street or passage across the North loch.” The
length from High Street to an abutment to be built for
¢ a bridge that is proposed to be cast over the Lane leading
from Leith wynd port by the back of the flesh mercat to the
Castlehill was about 470 feet.” The bridge was to be 150 feet
long, 25 feet wide in the Clear, and 20 feet high to the spring
of the Arch, which Arch should be a semi-circle or 124 feet
high more, or 321 feet in whole from the level of the street
to the underside of said Arch.” Further, the  street or passage
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across the North loch’ was to be formed of the ° rubbish’
collected from the demolition of the Cap and Feather ¢ land,’
and from other parts of the city. The rubbish was to form a
sloping bank at each side and on the top was to be a road
from 40 to 50 feet wide. To prevent the rubbish *from
spreading out upon Halkerston’s wynd to the east or the
Area upon the north side of the low flesh mercat to the
west,” what were called © wing walls’ were to be erected at
each side of the sloping bank. These would be 20 feet high
‘next to the bridge and 6 or 8 feet at the upper ends next
to the houses.” The ‘ wing walls’ were to be sufficiently thick
* to resist the pressure of the said banks.” Fina Ily, the entrance
to the proposed bridge would be on the site of the Cap and
Feather “ land." From there would begin ¢ a handsome passage
for Carriages in the Centre, and a foot passage on each side
of it leading to a street of thirty feet wide all the way from
thence to the bridge to be built on the north.’

X

Here we have adumbrated a scheme for bridging the
North Loch which is certainly confusing. So far as can be
made out, there was a subordinate enterprise for the con-
struction of a * Lane’ (i.e. road) which, beginning at Leith
Wynd, close to the top of the Canongate, was to curve north
of the Fleshmarket, and terminate at Castlehill. On Edgar's
Plan of Edinburgh (1765) the Lawnmarket end of the ¢ Lane
is indicated by dotted lines, which can be traced to the rear
of the high tenements facing the Mound. For the strengthen-
ing of the proposed ‘ Lane,” there were to be sloping banks
protected with ‘ wing walls’ | Along the top was to be a road-
way from 40 to 50 feet broad, and the span of the arch of the
North Bridge through which the ‘ Lane’ was to pass was to
measure 25 feet. These particulars apply not to the North
Bridge proper, but to the ‘ Lane,” the ostensible object of

D
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which was to provide a more convenient way for Leith-bound
traffic approaching the city from the west.!

Later on in the report, however, we seem to come upon
a definite reference to the North Bridge which was ultimately
erected, for it is stated that the buildings that the Musical
Society and the Ladies Assembly proposed to erect were to
be situated west of the street leading from the area formerly
occupied by the Cap and Feather Close ‘ to the bridge to be
built on the north.” The site selected by these societies was
therefore bounded by the new street alluded to on the east,
by Mylne’s Square on the south, and by the Fleshmarket
on the west. The buildings were to extend 170 feet north-
wards, leaving a space of 125 feet between them and the
bridge. It may be added that when the bridge was decided
upon, the Town Council purchased numerous properties (all
set out in the Minute-Book of the Commissioners) occupying
what was to be the southern approach. The total outlay on
these buildings was £1156, 16s. 1d.

The Commissioners adopted the recommendation of their
committee that the petition of the Musical Society and the
Ladies Assembly should be granted ‘upon their paying the
value of the Areas already purchased and those to be purchased
upon which the buildings for their accommodation are to be
erected.” On the other hand, the Commissioners resolved
‘to proceed with all convenient speed to execute the passage
agreeable to the plan mentioned.” The houses in the Cap
and Feather Close, which had been purchased from Bailie
Robert Bailie, were to be pulled down, and that as soon as
there were funds, the two societies would repay the town what
they had advanced for Bailie’s property.

Hardly, however, had the prayer of the petition been
granted than the Musical Society and Ladies Assembly
intimated that difficulties had occurred which rendered the

1 The writer is indebted to Mr., Frank C. Mears, A R.S.A., F.R.LB.A,, for
having shed light on a problem which had been somewhat baffling.
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execution of their scheme impracticable. What these diffi-
culties were the Minute-Book of the Commissioners does not
tell us, but we know them from other sources. Robert Adam
had been asked to report, and had given it as his opinion
that, owing to the ° present declivities and the cast earth
that must be raised there to bring the new pretended street
to a proper level, there would inevitably be so much useless
building sunk under ground as would eat up the greatest part
of the fund.” * The decision was belated, for the scheme was
already in progress. The tenants in the Cap and Feather Close
and adjoining tenements had already been warned to remove,
while Thomas Cleland, saddler, who was proprietor of a house
above the enfry to the Cap and Feather Close, had purchased
another. The Commissioners therefore were under the neces-
sity of purchasing Cleland’s new property.

At this point the record of the proceedings of the Com-
missioners for carrying out City Improvements, 1752-1761,
with reference to the North Bridge, come to an end.
Notwithstanding the unsatisfactory state of affairs connected
with the erection of the Royal Exchange, they devoted much
attention to this, the second of their public works, believing
that it was ‘ much wished for and desired by all Ranks and
Degrees of people.” But while the North Bridge scheme was
‘ the most requisite and of the highest importance,” it was
gradually borne in upon the Commissioners that nothing
substantial could be done until an Act of Parliament was
obtained for extending the royalty ‘ over all those Grounds
which will lye contiguous to that passage from Edinburgh to
Leith.” Eventually it was agreed to make application to
Parliament, and the curtain is rung down with Provost
Drummond and Lords Milton, Kames, Minto, Auchinleck
and Prestongrange engaged in drafting the bill.

W. ForBES GRAY.

1 Book of the Old Edinburgh Club, vol. xix. p. 56.




A NOTE ON THE HOPETOUN MONUMENT

formerly stood for many years a rural refreshment
house called ‘Peace and Plenty.’ Here in a garden,

if the weather permitted, visitors would sit and enjoy straw-
berries and cream. When this area became vacant, it was
bought by Sir Laurence Dundas, Bart., of Kerse, Stirlingshire,
and in 1772-74 he built on the site a mansion which was
known as Dundas House. Sir Laurence had been Commissary-
General to the British Army in Flanders. At his death in
1781 the house passed into the possession of Lord Dundas,
his son and heir. In 1794-95 the house and ground were
bought by the Government and converted into the principal
Office of Excise for Scotland, and as such it remained till
1825, when it was sold to the Royal Bank of Scotland for
£35,300.1

Sir John Hope, fourth Earl of Hopetoun, was Governor
of the Bank from 1820 ® till his death in Paris on 27th August
1823.2 As a soldier he had served with great distinction in
the West Indies, Holland, Egypt, the Walcheren Expedition,
and the Peninsula,* and in 1819 he attained to the rank of
general.® Three months after his death advertisements
appeared in The Edinburgh Advertiser, calling a Public Meet-
ing for all who wished to commemorate Hopetoun by a
¢ permanent record ’ of their respect for him. These were signed
by a large number of notable persons, including James Gibson

1 Neil Munro, T'he History of the Royal Bank of Scotland 1727-1927, Privately
Printed (1928), pp. 187-90.

2 Ibid., p. 397.

¥ William Anderson, The Scottish Nation, ii. (1861), p. 404,

4 Neil Munro, op. cit., p. 190.

& Anderson, op. cit., p. 404,
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3'1‘ the east side of St. Andrew Square, Edinburgh, there
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Craig, Robert Dundas, Alexander Henderson (the Lord
Provost), Gilbert Innes, Francis Jeffrey, and Walter Scott.
The Meeting took place on 3rd December in the Waterloo
Tavern. General Sir David Baird, ‘the companion in arms
of his much regretted friend,’ presided. Resolutions were
moved by the Earl of Rosslyn and seconded by Lieut.-General
Sir John Oswald. One resolution was adopted, that subscrip-
tion papers for a memorial should be immediately circulated,
and that ‘a Committee should be appointed in London
as well as Edinburgh, to superintend the progress of the
subscription.” Another resolution stated that Gilbert Innes
of Stow was to be the Treasurer and James Gibson Craig
the Secretary.! Innes remained Deputy-Governor of the
Bank from 1794 to 1837.2 Others chiefly concerned in
the project were Sir William Rae, Lord Advocate, and a
Director of the Bank 1816-43,® and James Hope, W.S., who
became Keeper of the Signet 1850-82.4

The sculptor whom the Committee decided upon to execute
the work was Thomas Campbell (1790-1858). Camphell was
born in Edinburgh of humble circumstances and received a
meagre education. Serving an apprenticeship to a marble-
cutter, he showed such marked ability that he went to London
to study at the Royal Academy. Later, with financial help,
he passed some time in Rome, where he produced various
works and associated with Italian and German artists. In
1829-30 he returned to England and settled for the rest of
his life in London. He worked in both bronze and marble,
and among his productions are a monument to the Duchess
of Buccleuch at Boughton ; a statue of Queen Victoria at
Windsor Castle ; one of the Duke of Wellington at Dalkeith

} The Edinburgh Advertiser, 25th and 28th November, 2nd and 5th December
1823.

2 Neil Munro, op. cif., p. 898,

3 Ibid., p. 403.

* A History of the Society of Writers to Her Majesty’s Signet (1890), p. 102,
See also p. 33, note 5.
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Palace!; and a bust of Sir James Gibson Craig? in the
Library of the Writers to His Majesty’s Signet, Edinburgh.

At what date Campbell commenced work on the Hopetoun
Monument I have not been able to ascertain, but the agree-
ment with him was evidently made some time in 1824. It
was to be an equestrian statue. By 1829 it would seem that
the figures of Hopetoun and his horse (as distinet from the
entire Monument) were completed, for, on his way back to
London, the sculptor wrote from Florence on 1st September
1829 to inform Gibson Craig that the statue was being con-
veyed to England by the Admiralty transport. ‘The Hope-
toun group was exhibited at Rome,’ he said, ‘ & was praised
as much as I ever cou